IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-1207

Third District Court of Appeal, State of Florida Case No. 3D04-2340

NICKULIS GILLIS,

Petitioner,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1963

DOROTHY F. EASLEY
SPECIAL ASSISTANT PUBLIC
DEFENDER
(Fla. Bar No. 0015891)
Counsel for Petitioner
Post Office Box 144389
Coral Gables, Florida 33114
Telephone: (305) 444-1599

e-Mail: <u>dfeasley@bellsouth.net</u>

A. Statement of the Case

On August 15, 2002, Nickulis Gillis was charged by Information with the July 25, 2002 murder of Martin Daniel (the "Decedent") at an Opa Locka Exxon Gas Station: (1) Second Degree Murder, with a firearm, §§ 782.04(2) & 775.087, Fla. Stat. (2002) (Count I) and (2) Armed Robbery §§ 812.13(2)(A) & 775.087, Fla. Stat. (2002) (Count II), and on September 4, 2002, by Indictment of First Degree Murder §§ 782.04(1) & 775.087, Fla. Stat. (2002) (Count I), ¹¹ Armed Robbery §§ 812.13(2)(A) & & 775.087, Fla. Stat. (2002) (Count II) and Resisting Officer Without Violence § 843.02 (later withdrawn). V1-R.26-28 On August 13, 2004, Nickulis Gillis was convicted of Second Degree Murder, with possession and discharge of a firearm causing death, and of Attempted Armed Robbery, and sentenced pursuant to the ten-twenty-life statute, § 775.087(2), Fla. Stat. (2004), to life in prison with a minimum mandatory of life. V4-R.443-58; T. 848-70.

V. __-R. __ refers to the volume number and record on appeal page number. T. __ refers to the trial transcript. The parties will be referred to as they were below.

Though not particularly clear in the record, the death penalty was waived during trial, apparently during voir dire.

B. Pretrial Motions and Rulings

On June 26, 2003, the State filed a Notice of Intent to Rely on Evidence of Other Crimes, Wrongs or Acts (V1-R.37-38), and a Motion to Order the Defendant to Submit to Blood and Oral Swab Samples, which Motion was denied. V1-R.39-41.

A T-shirt was found on the side of the Exxon Gas Station where the shooting occurred. T. 102-05. On October 10, 2003, a DNA Analysis Report was presented of that T-shirt. V1-R.110, T. 102-05. The T-shirt could not be linked to either Mr. Gillis or the Decedent. V1-R.110, T. 102-05. A cap was found around the corner. T. 102-05. On August 9, 2004, Mr. Gillis and the State entered into a formal stipulation that:

- \$ the DNA of a cap found at the site of the incident did "not match the [DNA] of the defendant Nickulis Gillis";
- \$ the DNA found on the cap found at the site of the incident matched the "DNA profile of <u>Samuel Bryant</u>, Social Security No. [Redacted from Brief for Privacy Protections], Date of Birth [Redacted from Brief for Privacy Protections], given pursuant to a volunteer swab of his mouth"; <u>Mr. Bryant lived 7 blocks from the site of this incident</u> (T. 12); and
- \$ the DNA found on the T-shirt found at the site of the incident had "no matching results". V2-R.269.

The State moved in limine to exclude defense argument or any testimony during any stage of the case about the cap and T-shirt collected from the site of the incident. T. 11-13. The court granted the State's Motion in Limine to preclude the

defense from introducing any evidence regarding the T-shirt and the cap, pending the establishment of relevance. T. 105, 110-15.

On May 27, 2004, Mr. Gillis unsuccessfully Moved to Suppress His Confession. V1-111-14. On June 30, 2004, Mr. Gillis renewed his Motion to Suppress Statement because the *Miranda* notification to the accused:

- \$ did not inform Mr. Gillis of his right to consult with counsel during questioning, and
- \$ further failed to advise of the right to stop questioning at any time (V1-141-45),
- \$ which the State opposed on the basis of *Cooper v. State*, 739 So. 2d 82, 85 (Fla. 1999), and *Johnson v. State*, 750 So. 2d 22, 25 (Fla. 1999). V2-146-268.

The lower court denied the Motion to Suppress Confession on August 9, 2004, after hearing argument. V1-111-14; T. 97-101. During the course of trial, the defense renewed its standing objection to the admissibility of the statement and waiver form. T. 389-91.

On June 22, 2004, Mr. Gillis Moved to Suppress the Identification Testimony, which testimony was based on a single, mugshot of Mr. Gillis presented to the eyewitnesses, which was denied August 9, 2004. V1-R.117-19, 125-26; V3-R.354-58.; T. 4, 67-73, 74. During the hearing on the Motion to

The State had also stipulated to suppression of the testimony of an eyewitness, Tequila Sharp, because of her mental health records. T. 3.

Suppress Identification Testimony, the State presented testimony from Ashley Yuinigo, Miami-Dade Detective Chivarey and Herman Thomas. T. 16-67.

Ms. Yuinigo testified she was the person riding on the back of the Decedent's moped on the morning of July 25, 2002, at about 9:00 a.m.; she stood about 2-3 feet from the shooter, and she had later identified a person in a mugshot for the police, whom she believed to be the shooter, which mugshot she signed. T. 17-21. Ms. Yuinigo did not know the shooter by name; she knew she had seen the shooter before, about 7-10 times over a two-month period, in the area of Opa Locka (called "the triangle"); and she had last seen the shooter about 2-3 days before the July 2002 shooting incident. T. 19-23. She had never spoken to Mr. Gillis. T. 26-27. She could not be any more specific about the shooter's dress than: he was wearing a shirt and pants. T. 24.

When Ms. Yuinigo identified Mr. Gillis as the shooter:

- \$ the police showed her one photograph, of one person;
- \$ she knew it was a mugshot at the time it was presented to her for identification;
- \$ the photograph had a "Miami Dade Police Department" heading across it;
- \$ she "actually knew this individual was labeled by the police as a criminal" because "they had a mugshot of him already";
- \$ she was not shown any other photograph for identification; and

\$ she was "pretty sure" of her identification. T. 23-25, 27-29.

As part of the hearing on the Motion to Suppress Identification Testimony, Miami-Dade Police Detective Chivarey testified that he showed Ms. Yuinigo a mugshot of Mr. Gillis after he interviewed her, but before a sworn statement was taken, and that Ms. Yuinigo identified Mr. Gillis, without hesitation, as the shooter. T. 33-38. Ms. Yuinigo was unable to identify Mr. Gillis as the shooter by name; Detective Chivarey elected to present this mugshot of Mr. Gillis based on information he had received from another detective who named Mr. Gillis as a possible suspect. T. 35. Detective Chivarey elect to not show Ms. Yuinigo a sixperson photographic lineup, because Ms. Yuinigo said she knew the shooter from the area by his appearance. T. 37-38. Detective Chivarey made no attempt to hide the fact that he was displaying a mugshot of Mr. Gillis. T. 43. The mugshot of Mr. Gillis said "one hit, one mugshot". T. 37.

On July 20, 2004, the lower court issued a rule to show cause against one of the State's key witnesses, Herman Thomas, whom his grandmother later revealed was incarcerated at the D.C.F. V3-R.352. At the August 9, 2004 hearing on the Motion to Suppress the Identification testimony, Herman Thomas testified that:

\$ Mr. Thomas was working the morning of the shooting incident at the subject Exxon Gas Station. T. 46-52.

- \$ He identified Mr. Gillis by the first name "Nick" as the shooter during a police interview. T. 46-52.
- \$ Mr. Thomas had not been shown a photograph at or near the time of the shooting incident, and he had given the police the first name of "Nick" the day of the shooting. T. 58-60. 13
- \$ He identified Mr. Gillis about one month later at the shooter from a single mugshot that Detective Chivarey showed him. T. 46-52.
- \$ The mugshot was clearly labeled as a mugshot at the bottom. T. 57.
- \$ Mr. Thomas knew that the person in the mugshot was a criminal and this was a police mugshot. T. 57.

Mr. Thomas had previously seen Mr. Gillis around the Opa Locka neighborhood once a week, briefly speaking, over a period of one year. T. 49-53, 59. He saw Mr. Gillis briefly inside the store the morning of the shooting incident, and then later outside the gas station a few minutes before the shooting incident, both times at a distance of about 20 feet. T. 49-53, 59. He merely heard loud voices and "give me the keys"; he did not actually see the shooting and could not say that Mr. Gillis was the shooter. T. 56.

On August 9, 2004, the lower court granted (1) a stipulated Motion in Limine excluding the testimony of Opa Locka Police Officer James Smith about

The mugshot label on the photograph of Mr. Gillis that the witnesses were shown was removed before being introduced into evidence. T. 395-97, 400.

several persons' statements identifying "Nick" as the shooter in this case on hearsay grounds (V2-R.272-73) and (2) a stipulated Motion in Limine excluding evidence of, contents of or testimony on a "911" tape transmission. V2-R.274-77; T.4-9.

On August 9, 2004, the court denied a Motion to Suppress Physical Evidence concerning red hightop shoes found after Mr. Gillis' arrest, in a cell he shared with others incarcerated, under a bunk, where Mr. Gillis was previously sitting. V2-R.278-81, 286-88; T.9-10, 74-96, 106-08. As part of the hearing on the Motion to Suppress Physical Evidence concerning red hightop shoes, Miami-Dade County Detective Chivarey testified that, pursuant to a search warrant, he executed a search of Mr. Gillis' cell, where he was housed with other inmates, and located red hightop sneakers, which were the only red sneakers in the cell. T. 39-40, 42. Before the search warrant was executed, a corrections officer had gone into the cell where Mr. Gillis was housed to see if the cell contained red sneakers. T. 43-44. Red sneakers were found next to flip flop sandals that had the name of "Nick" on the sandal soles. T. 39-40. Detective Chivarey showed the red sneakers to Herman Thomas, who identified them as the sneakers the shooter was wearing at the time of the shooting incident. T. 40-41.

Also as part of the hearing on the Motion to Suppress Physical Evidence concerning red hightop shoes, Herman Thomas testified that he saw the person that

morning, before the shooting incident, when he came into the Exxon Gas Station. T. 61-63. The shooter was wearing a blue printed shirt with leaf prints, and long blue pants. T. 61-63. Mr. Thomas only saw the person's upper body when he came into the Exxon Gas Station, and saw the person again from a distance, about five or ten minutes later, close to the time of the shooting incident, wearing red hightop, laced sneakers. T. 63-65. Mr. Thomas identified during the hearing the red sneakers that Detective Chivarey obtained from the cell housing Mr. Gillis, as the sneakers Mr. Gillis was wearing the morning of the shooting incident. T. 62-63, 65-66. The defense renewed its standing objection to the admissibility of the shoes during the course of trial. T. 389.

Before trial, the State and defense stipulated that one of the State's eyewitness', Mr. Herman Thomas, had 8 prior felony convictions. T. 115.

The lower court allowed the State, over repeated objection that the cause of death was not in dispute, which the lower court overruled, to introduce into evidence and publish to the jury two graphic photographs of the Decedent's heart extracted from his body during autopsy and of the heart entrance wound. V3-R.305-09; T. 381-84, T. 473-74.

C. The Trial

1. Opening Statements

The State stated the evidence would show that Mr. Gillis was the shooter

who killed, without justification, the Decedent. T. 402-07. The defense stated that the case turned upon the jury deciding witness credibility and the accuracy of their perceptions, the evidence the prosecution would/would not present, and the circumstances under which Mr. Gillis gave his 8 minute statement to the police. T. 407-15.

2. The Testimony

Ashley Yuinigo testified at trial that, on the day of the shooting incident-July 25, 2002 at roughly 9 a.m.-she accompanied a friend, the Decedent, on his moped to the triangle area of Opa Locka to purchase gasoline and, after they refueled and were preparing to remount the moped, a person approached the Decedent, waived his gun, and demanded everything, while Ms. Yuinigo remained close beside the moped. T. 416-20, 422-25. The Decedent responded that he did not have anything, started to empty his pockets and offered the keys to the moped, to which the shooter responded that he wanted the moped keys. T. 418-19. The Decedent threw the moped keys to the ground; the shooter tried to pick up the keys; the Decedent went for the shooter; they started fighting over the gun; the gun discharged once; the shooter ran from the Exxon Gas Station in Opa Locka in the direction of an apartment complex; and the Decedent died several minutes later. T. 419-33.

Ms. Yuinigo's testimony about having seen the shooter previously and

about her identification of Mr. Gillis were the same as her testimony during the Motion to Suppress Identification hearing, except: she further testified (1) she was sixteen years old at the time of the shooting incident; (2) the shooter seemed very nervous, jumpy, shaking and appeared to be trashed as if "strung out on drugs"; (3) there were other people at the Exxon Gas Station that morning; (4) the entire incident took less than 2 minutes; (5) the gun was a small black firearm, which she thought was a .380; (6) she had no memory of what the shooter was wearing; (7) she was hysterical, in shock and had to be calmed down; and (8) she was shown only a single photograph to identify. T. 424-52. Over objection, which the lower court overruled, the photograph of Mr. Gillis was introduced into evidence. T. 437-38. Mr. Gillis was identified in court. T. 438-39.

Herman Thomas testified at trial that he was convicted of a felony 8 times, of which one was a drug conviction, that he had a cocaine addiction problem from 1991 to 1998, and on the date of the July 25, 2002 shooting incident, by 9 a.m., he had consumed three beers. T. 455-58, 477. On the day of the shooting incident, he was working part-time at the particular Exxon Gas Station in Opa Locka. T. 455-58. Mr. Thomas' trial testimony was similar to his testimony during the Motion to Suppress Identification and Motion to Suppress Physical Evidence concerning the red shoes, except: he further testified that (1) he remembered seeing the red hightop shoes when the shooter entered the gas station (previously testifying at the

Motion to Suppress hearing that he could only see the upper body when the shooter entered the store); (2) the shooter was wearing a bluish gray shirt with print on it, blue trousers and red laced hightop shoes, both times that Mr. Thomas saw him that morning of the shooting incident; (3) Mr. Thomas heard the shooter' voice, which he was familiar with from earlier exchanges, about 3 minutes after Mr. Thomas saw him a second time; (4) the shooter was outside, out of view, demanding money; (5) Mr. Thomas could not see what was happening outside because a building obstructed his view; (6) Mr. Thomas heard a shot and ran to the location of the shot; (7) Mr. Thomas only saw the Decedent and Ms. Yuinigo when he arrived at that location; and (8) Mr. Thomas did not see the shooting. 81. At the police station, Mr. Thomas identified the shooter as "Nick"; he was not able to give a last name; he was shown only one photograph thereafter to identify. T. 471-72. Over objection, overruled, the mugshot photograph of Mr. Gillis was introduced into evidence. T. 472-73. Over objection, overruled, the red hightop shoes were introduced into evidence. T. 474-75.

Miami-Dade Police Officer James Calliger testified that he was the first to interview Herman Thomas about the shooting of the Decedent; Mr. Thomas did not appear to be under the influence of any drugs; Mr. Thomas stated he knew the shooter by name and by face; and, upon being shown one photograph, he identified Mr. Gillis as the shooter. T. 494-97.

City of Opa Locka Chief James Smitty testified that, in less than one minute after being dispatched, he was the first officer on the scene at the Exxon Gas Station on the day of the shooting; he saw the victim lying face down; a young lady was nearby screaming hysterically; there were several people on the scene; and based upon his investigation he went to a rooming house at 2137 Washington Avenue in Opa Locka, where he saw Nickulis Gillis, whom Chief Smitty identified in court, sitting in an open upstairs window looking down. T. 505-12. Chief Smitty advised Mr. Gillis that he wanted to talk with him, to which Mr. Gillis asked why and did not respond further; Chief Smitty later returned to 2137 Washington Avenue, where Mr. Gillis had been taken into custody. T. 511-17.

Miami-Dade Police Office Louis Major Battle, commander of the special patrol bureau, testified that Mr. Gillis came out of the rooming house at around 1:15 p.m. that same day. T. 517-23. Chief Smitty had no recollection of what shirt Mr. Gillis was wearing that day, except that the shirt was dark. T. 512. Chief Smitty also had no recollection of what shoes Mr. Gillis was wearing that day. T. 514.

Miami-Dade Police Detective Charles Maculley (not the lead investigator)

Mr. Thomas had testified the shooter was wearing a bluish gray shirt.

testified that on the date of the shooting incident he was present when Mr. Gillis exited the rooming house. T. 524-26. Mr. Gillis executed a consent to search the premises; the rooming house was filthy and in complete disarray; and nothing (no weapon either) was seized from the house upon searching it. T. 524-32.

Miami-Dade Officer Jennifer Lee Lopez testified that on the date of the shooting incident she was present when the consent to search was obtained from Mr. Gillis. T. 554-55. Officer Lopez testified that she obtained custody of Mr. Gillis at the rooming house, executed a pat down search upon his arrest, and found no weapons. T. 548-57. Officer Lopez transported Mr. Gillis to the Metro Dade Police Headquarters homicide bureau. T. 545-55.

Former Crime Scene Technician Jorge Garry testified that on the date of the shooting incident he collected a casing and dusted the moped for fingerprints; he thereafter took a gunshot residue swab from the Decedent and responded to the rooming house at 2137 Washington Avenue; he took a gunshot residue swab from Mr. Gillis. T. 533-45.

Miami-Dade Crime Scene Technician Taffe testified that on the date of the shooting incident he responded to the Exxon Gas Station, where he worked with Miami-Dade Crime Scene Borroto; he impounded a casing retrieved from that Station; he assigned the dusting of the moped for fingerprints; assigned the collection of gun shot residue from the Decedent; and was also at the 2137 Washington Avenue location where he and at least four other officers conducted the search of the premises for a firearm that would match a 40 caliber casing found at the scene of the shooting. T. 564-70. There was no search for clothing. T. 569-70. No firearm was found. T. 570.

Miami-Dade Police Firearm and Tool Mark Examiner George William Hurtail Jr. testified that the fired casing matched a 40 caliber Smith & Wesson. T. 571-75. No firearm was submitted to Officer Hurtail for examination. T. 575-76. The casing could not be matched to the projectile removed from the Decedent; the casing and projectile could have been consistent with a 40 caliber Smith & Wesson. T. 575-77.

Miami-Dade Police Fingerprint Technician Robert Williams testified that he evaluated the latent fingerprints taken off the Decedent's moped; and the fingerprints could only be matched to the Decedent; two fingerprints could not be identified. T. 583-96. No fingerprints were recovered from the casing. T. 592-93.

Miami-Dade Detective John Parmenter testified that he was lead homicide detective to investigate the shooting of the Decedent at the Exxon Gas Station in Opa Locka on July 25, 2002; he arrived on the crime scene at 10:40 a.m. after it had been secured; he requested that Ashley Yuinigo be taken down to the station for a formal interview; he was aware that Detective Galliger was interviewing

Herman Thomas at the station. T. 598-608. Detective Parmenter supplied Detective Galliger with a name of a suspect for Ms. Yuinigo's photograph identification. T. 605-10. No one told Detective Parmenter what the shooter was wearing, including no mention of clothing or shoes. T. 606-08.

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