IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-1207 DCA CASE NO. 3D04-2340

NICKULIS GILLIS,

Petitioner,

-VS-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

RICHARD L. POLIN Bureau Chief Florida Bar No. 0230987

MARÍA T. ARMAS
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0164010
Attorneys for the State of Florida
Office of the Attorney General
444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 650
Miami, Florida 33131
Telephone:(305) 377-5441
Facsimile: (305) 377-5655

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

Should this Court disagree with the State's position, the admission of the confession was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt given the compelling eyewitness testimony of Yuinigo and Thomas; Kline's testimony as to the gunshot

residue swabs taken from Petitioner and Martin; and, Medical Examiner Hyme's testimony.

- B. The district court properly found that while the use of a single photographic lineup was unnecessarily suggestive, there was no substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification given: Yuinigo's familiarity with Petitioner and the heightened circumstances of their encounter and the certainty of her identification; and, Thomas' familiarity with Petitioner, his encounter with Petitioner on the day of the murder and description of Petitioner's clothing and shoes.
- C. The Third District Court properly rejected Petitioner's claims as to the seizure of his red sneakers. A public jail cell does not have the same privacy as an individual's home, car, office, or motel room. Furthermore, the clothing and personal effects on the person of an arrestee may be taken, examined, and preserved for evidence per Florida and federal law.
- D. The Third District did not address this issue within the four corners of its opinion although it was raised below. The trial court properly required Petitioner to establish a predicate for the admission of a Dolphins' hat and a T-shirt found at the scene and the admission of autopsy photographs of Martin's wounded heart. Petitioner failed to establish a predicate and so the items were not admitted into evidence. The autopsy photographs showed the entrance and exit wounds caused by the bullet. These were properly admitted to illustrate Dr. Hyme's testimony and

the injuries he noted on Martin.

ARGUMENT

- I. THIS COURT SHOULD REJECT THE HOLDINGS OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL AND AFFIRM THOSE OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL.
- A. THE MDPD *MIRANDA* FORM COMPLIES WITH THE REQUISITES OF *MIRANDA* AND THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION. THE OPINION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IS CONSISTENT WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF FLORIDA AND FEDERAL LAW.

In *Traylor*, this Court held confessions are first reviewed under the Florida Constitution and if it passes that muster then the confessions are reexamined under the Federal Constitution. "When called upon to decide matters of fundamental rights, Florida's state courts are bound under federalist principles to give primacy to our state Constitution and to give independent legal import to every phrase and clause contained therein." *Id.*, 596 So. 2d at 962; *see* Art. I, § 9, Fla. Const.

As to Art. I, § 9, Fla. Const., the *Traylor* Court, after reviewing Florida law and experience under *Miranda* and its progeny stated, "we hold that to ensure the voluntariness of confessions, the Self-Incrimination Clause of Article I, Section 9, Florida Constitution, requires that prior to custodial interrogation in Florida suspects must be told that they have a right to remain silent, that anything they say will be used against them in court, that they have a right to a lawyer's help (e.g., before and during questioning), and that if they cannot pay for a lawyer one will be

appointed to help them." *Id.*, 596 So. 2d at 965-66. Neither Florida nor federal courts require a talismanic incantation of these rights. Thompson v. State, 595 So. 2d 16, 17 (Fla. 1992); State v. Delgado-Armenta, 429 So. 2d 328, 329-31 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); California v. Prysock, 453 U.S. 355, 359 (1981). Instead, all that is required is that the accused by 'adequately informed' of the Miranda warnings or their equivalent. Duckworth v. Eagan, 492 U.S. 195, 202-03 (1989)(The Court "never insisted that Miranda warnings be given in the exact form described in that decision. ... Reviewing courts therefore need not examine Miranda warnings as if construing a will or defining the terms of an easement. The inquiry is simply whether the warnings reasonably convey to a suspect his rights as required by Miranda."). Additionally, the authorities were warned that if a suspect "indicates in any manner that he or she does not want to be interrogated, interrogation must not begin or, if it has already begun, must immediately stop." Traylor, 596 So. 2d at 966. This Court concluded the harmless error test applies to cases involving the admissibility of confessions, i.e., harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Id., 596 So.

In *Miranda*, the United States Supreme Court set forth the minimum warnings a defendant in custody must receive, but did not make the exact verbiage used mandatory. *Miranda* (A defendant must be warned: "prior to any questioning that he has the right to remain silent, that anything he says can be used against him a court of law, that he has the right to the presence of an attorney, and that if he cannot afford an attorney one will be appointed for him prior to any questioning if he so desires.") *Id.*, 384 U.S. at 479; *Maxwell v. State*, 917 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006).

2d at 973; *Thompson*, 595 So. 2d at 18.

1. Consultation with an Attorney Prior to Questioning

This issue, specifically as to the MDPD *Miranda* form, was last addressed by this Court in *Chavez v. State*, 832 So. 2d 730, 750 (Fla. 2002):

Chavez also asserts that his confession must be suppressed as involuntary because he was not properly advised of his right to consult with counsel before questioning. *See Taylor v. State*, 596 So. 2d 957, 957 n. 13 (Fla. 1992)(observing that "the suspect has the right to consult with a lawyer before being interrogated and to have the lawyer present during the interrogation"). Here, Chavez, who indicated that the had a twelfth-grade education, read the Metro-Dade *Miranda* form in Spanish, and initialed it. **This form has specifically been upheld as sufficient**. *See Cooper v. State*, 739 So. 2d 82, 84 n.8 (Fla. 1999)(approving this warning on the Metro-Dade rights form: "If you want a lawyer to be present during questioning, at this time or any time thereafter, you are entitled to have a lawyer present."). Thus, Chavez's claim that he was insufficiently informed of his *Miranda* rights fails.

See Johnson, 750 So. 2d at 25 (expressly rejecting as error the failure of the MDPD warning form to inform an accused of the right to counsel prior to and during questioning and referring to *Cooper* where the Court declared the MDPD form tracks the language of *Miranda*); *Cooper*, 739 So. 2d at 82 n.8 (defendant's claim the MDPD form was insufficient as the warning tracked the language of *Miranda*).

This Court may wish to note the form advises a defendant s/he may have a lawyer present "at this time," i.e., when the *Miranda* form is given, which occurs *prior* to the beginning of questioning, as well as informing him of his right to an

attorney "anytime hereafter." Given the preceding, the MDPD *Miranda* form which advises an accused of the right to the presence of an attorney "at this time," during, and after questioning has been explicitly upheld by the Florida Supreme Court and so the trial court properly denied the motion to suppress and the Third District Court of Appeal properly affirmed.

The BSO form as reported in *Roberts*, follows the language announced in both *Traylor* and *Miranda*, but is factually distinguishable from the form employed by the MDPD. The third warning on that form informs the accused: "You have the right to talk with a lawyer and have a lawyer present before *any* questioning." Plainly, the accused is told s/he may speak with a lawyer and have that lawyer present before any questioning. The third warning of the MDPD form, however, more fully informs the accused that if s/he wants "a lawyer to be present during questioning at this time or anytime hereafter, you are entitled to have the lawyer present." The trial court properly denied the motion to suppress which the Third District properly affirmed.

<u>2.</u> <u>Termination of Questioning at any Time</u>

There is no requirement either in *Traylor* or in *Miranda* to give a defendant an express warning that s/he may terminate questioning at any time. While the United States Supreme Court has not squarely addressed this issue, this Court did

in *Brown*. In *Brown*, this Court squarely answered the same question in the negative. This Court declared:

The right to cut off questioning is *implicit* in the litany of rights which Miranda requires to be given to a person being questioned. *It is not, however, among those that must be specifically communicated to such person.* The rights card which the detective used contained no mention of cutting off questioning, but, because *Miranda* does not require such a warning, the warnings given Brown were sufficient.

Id., 565 So. 2d at 306 (emphasis added).

Other jurisdictions which have considered this question have rejected such a requirement. ¹² The *Traylor* Court warned that once a suspect indicates s/he no

¹² See Green v. Alabama, 45 So. 2d 243 (Ala. Crim. App. 1970)(no requirement to warn as to termination of questioning); Wofford v. Arkansas, 952 S.W.2d 646 (Ark. 1997)(same); In the Interest of M.R.J., 633 P.2d 474 (Col. 1981)(same); Gray v. Delaware, 441 A.2d 209, 217 (Del. 1981)(same); Louisiana v. Nelson, 822 So. 2d 796, 799 (La.App. 5 Cir. 2002)(same); Massachusetts v. Rui Novo, 812 N.E.2d 1169, 1176 (Mass. 2004)(no requirement defendant be informed of the so-called 'fifth' Miranda warning) referring to Massachusetts v. Silanskas, 746 N.E.2d 445 (Mass. 2001); Smith v. Mississippi, 394 So. 2d 1367, 1369 (Ms. 1981)(four-fold Miranda warning comprehends and includes the right of a suspect to terminate questioning at any time); Missouri v. Harper, 465 S.W.2d 547 (Mo. 1971)(no requirement to warn as to right to terminate questioning); New Hampshire v. Fecteau, 568 A.2d 1187, 1188 (N.H. 1990)("Neither the United States Supreme Court nor this court has ever required that police inform a suspect that he has the right to terminate questioning at any time, and we expressly decline so to hold today."); New Jersey v. Sherwood, 353 A.2d 137 (N.J. Sup. Ct. App. Div. 1976)(same); *Ohio v. Brown*, 2000 Ohio App. LEXIS 1430, *8 (Ohio Ct. App. 2000)("Petitioner could have chosen to terminate the interrogation at any time; however, no law exists requiring the police to tell a suspect he has the option to stop talking to them once he has waived his right to remain silent."); Oregon v. Olson, 731 P.2d 1072 (Or. Ct. App. 1987)(Oregon Constitution does not require warnings, including right to terminate questioning at any time, which exceed

longer wishes to speak, the questioning may either not begin or must cease if it already began. *Id.*, 596 So. 2d at 966. In *Brown*, this Court observed this is an implicit, not an explicit, right. Thus, the right to remain silent by not answering police questions is inferred throughout the process. The Third District below properly recognized the implicit nature of this right.

The court in *State of Wisconsin v. Mitchell*, 482 N.W.2d 364 (Wis. 1992), addressed this question and closely examined the *Miranda* decision and declared, "We conclude the Supreme Court did not simply neglect to specify that the warnings include the right to terminate questioning because that right was identified in the same paragraph that specified the requisite warnings." *Id.*, 482 N.W.2d at 692-93. "By employing the right to stop answering questions at the post-warning stage, *Miranda* protects a defendant's rights by placing a continuous burden on the police." *Id.* Ultimately, that court held that any prior statements it might have made which required the "fifth" warning was dicta and withdrew them.

Miranda); Rhode Island v. Gianoulos, 404 A.2d 81, 84 n.2 (R.I. 1979)(no federal or state requirement requiring advising of a right to terminate questioning); Rhode

or state requirement requiring advising of a right to terminate questioning); *Rhode Island v. Crowhurst*, 470 A.2d 1138, 1142 (R.I. 1984)(same); *United States v. Brown*, 100 Fed. Appx. 769 (10th Cir. 2004)(no requirement to warn of right to terminate questioning); *United States v. Bramley*, 1987 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 10776 (N.D. Ill. 1987)(same); *United States v. Hoke*, 648 F. Supp. 1425, 1432 (E.D. N.Y. 1986)("While *Miranda* requires the police to cease questioning at the request of the detainee, this is not one of the rights that has to be enumerated in the *Miranda* warnings. Failure to advise a suspect of his right to terminate questioning is an important factor to be considered in determining the voluntariness of any statements made, but this warning is not expressly required.").

Petitioner was warned: "You have a right to remain silent and you do not have to talk to me if you do not wish to do so. You do not have to answer any of my questions." (R: 330)(emphasis added). This warning is unlimited, i.e., the MDPD form explicitly informs a defendant s/he does not have to answer any questions posed by the officer. Nowhere is the ability to refuse to answer any MDPD questions limited to either before or during questioning. The ability to refuse to answer any question means exactly what it says. Petitioner gave his statement which was transcribed by a court reporter. Nowhere in his transcribed statement did he invoke his right to remain silent. Nowhere in his initial brief does he declare that he gave any indication of his wish to remain silent. Had he done so, the MDPD would have been required to cease any questioning which it may have already started. Traylor. The MDPD form as given meets the requirements set forth in Art. I, § 9, Fla. Const., Traylor, Brown, and Miranda.

In *Ripley*, the Fourth District Court of Appeal concluded the BSO *Miranda* form was additionally defective for failing to inform a suspect he could stop the interrogation at any time during questioning on the basis of its decisions in *Franklin*, *West*, and *Roberts*. Neither *Franklin* nor *Roberts*, however, mentioned this issue.

In *West*, the district court noted the defendant was not informed of the right to terminate questioning at any time, but provided no authority for concluding the

form was so deficient. The *Ripley* decision provides no other authority for its conclusion. These decisions of the Fourth District were contrary to *Brown*. The trial court properly denied the motion to suppress which the Third District properly affirmed and which was in accord with *Brown*.

3. Harmless Error

Should this Court, however, disagree with the State's position, then the admission of Petitioner's confession is subjected to a harmless error analysis. Brown, 565 So. 2d at 307. At the trial, aside from the confession, the jury had the following evidence of guilt to consider: Yuinigo's compelling and unwavering eyewitness testimony; Thomas' unwavering eyewitness testimony; Kline's testimony as to the gunshot residue swabs taken from Petitioner (consistent with the firing of a firearm) and Martin (indicative of a defensive, rather than aggressive, position at the time of shooting); and, Medical Examiner Hyme's testimony specifically describing the effects of being shot in the manner in which Martin was shot (falling to the ground, foaming at the mouth, and gasping for breath) which was consistent with Yuinigo's testimony that Martin fell to the ground, foaming at the mouth, and gasping for breath. Given this overwhelming evidence, the admission of Petitioner's confession, if error, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

B. THE THIRD DISTRCT COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT WHILE THE USE OF A SINGLE PHOTOGRAPH WAS UNDULY SUGGESTIVE, THERE WAS NO SUBSTANTIAL LIKELIHOOD OF IRREPARABLE MISIDENTIFICATION. 13

An appellate court enjoys a mixed standard of review when considering a trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress. "The trial court's determination of historical facts enjoys a presumption of correctness and is subject to reversal only if not supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record. However, the trial court's determinations on mixed questions of law and fact and its legal conclusions are subject to de novo review." *Gordon v. State*, 901 So. 2d 399, 401 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); *Fitzpatrick v. State*, 900 So. 2d 495, 513 (Fla. 2005)("A trial judge's ruling on a motion to suppress is clothed with a presumption of correctness with regard to determinations of historical fact. However, appellate courts must independently review mixed questions of law and fact.").

_

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